
 

                         

 

 

 

                             

 

 

 

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

 

 

 

SPECIAL TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 

 

JULY 1, 2025 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET 

 

1



Town of Melbourne Beach 
 

SPECIAL TOWN COMMISSION MEETING 
Tuesday, July 1, 2025 @ 5:00 pm 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 
 

PUBLIC NOTICE 
AGENDA 

 
Commission Members:     Staff Members:  
Mayor Alison Dennington       Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro 
Vice Mayor Dawn Barlow            Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Commissioner Robert Baldwin    Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Commissioner Anna Butler 
Commissioner Tim Reed 

 
1. Call to Order  

 

2. Roll Call 
 

3. Pledge of Allegiance and Moment of Silence 
 

4. Public Comment 
After being acknowledged by the Mayor, members of the public should state their name and 
address for the record. The Commission encourages citizens to prepare their comments in 
advance. Each individual will have three (3) minutes to address the Commission on any topic(s) 
related to Town business, not on the Agenda. Please remember to sign the sign-in sheet 
provided if you will be speaking at the meeting.  

 

5. New Business 
A. Ordinance 2025-02 Proposed Amendments to the Charter – First Reading 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA, 

SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF MELBOURNE BEACH PROPOSED 

AMENDMENTS TO THE CHARTER OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH; 

PROVIDING BALLOT TITLES, SUMMARIES AND TEXT FOR THE PROPOSED 

AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING DIRECTIONS TO THE TOWN CLERK; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE FOR 

APPROVED AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE FOR THE 

ORDINANCE. 
 

6. Adjournment 
 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 286.0105, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT: In order to appeal any decision 
made at this meeting, you will need a verbatim transcript of the proceedings. It will be your responsibility to ensure such a record is 
made. Such person must provide a method for recording the proceedings verbatim as the Town does not do so. In accordance with the 
Americans with Disability Act and Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons needing special accommodations for this meeting shall, at 
least 5 days prior to the meeting, contact the Office of the Town Clerk at (321) 724-5860 or Florida Relay System at 711. 

2



Page 1 of 15 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2025-02 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, FLORIDA, SUBMITTING TO THE ELECTORS OF 

MELBOURNE BEACH PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 

THE CHARTER OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH; 

PROVIDING BALLOT TITLES, SUMMARIES AND TEXT 

FOR THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING 

DIRECTIONS TO THE TOWN CLERK; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

FOR APPROVED AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING FOR AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE FOR THE ORDINANCE. 

 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2024-14, the Town of Melbourne Beach established 

a Charter Review Committee to review the Town Charter and make recommendations to the Town 

Commission for proposed amendments thereto; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the 2025 Charter Review Committee reviewed, considered, studied, and 

analyzed the Town Charter and received public input during its multiple public meetings; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on April 28, 2025, the 2025 Charter Review Committed submitted its final 

report, attached hereto as Exhibit “A,” with recommendations to the Town Commission; and 

 

 WHEREAS, on June 18, 2025, following a public hearing wherein the Town Commission 

reviewed the final report and recommendations, and received public comment, the Town 

Commission accepted the final report, modified certain proposed charter amendments, and 

directed the Town Attorney to prepare an appropriate ordinance to place the proposed charter 

amendments before the registered voters of Melbourne Beach at the election to be held on 

November 4, 2025; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Section 166.031, Florida Statutes, provides that the governing body of a 

municipality may, by ordinance, submit to the electors of said municipality proposed amendments 

to its charter, which amendments may be to any part or to all of its charter except that part 

describing the boundaries of such municipality and other matters prohibited by general law; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town Commission finds it to be in the best interests of its citizens to 

submit said proposed Charter amendments to the voters at the municipal election on November 4, 

2025. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 

BEACH, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1. The Town Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, pursuant to 

Section 166.031, Florida Statutes, hereby proposes and approves amendments to the Charter of 

the Town of Melbourne Beach to be submitted to the electorate for consideration, which proposed 

amendments and the complete text thereof, as amended, are set forth in Section 3 below. Additions 

3



Page 2 of 15 

 

are shown with underlining, deletions are shown with strike through type, and asterisks (***) 

indicate an omission from the existing text which is intended to remain unchanged. 

 

 Section 2. Such election shall be held in conformity with the laws of the State of 

Florida and the Charter and ordinances of the Town of Melbourne Beach now in force relating to 

elections in the Town of Melbourne Beach. The Supervisor of Elections of Brevard County is 

hereby requested to coordinate all matters to said referendum election with the Town Clerk. The 

proposed charter amendments shall be submitted to the voters at the November 4, 2025, election. 

 

 Section 3. The proposed amendments, the ballot title, and the wording of the substance 

of the proposed amendments to the Charter, as contained in this Ordinance, shall appear on the 

ballot in the form of questions as follows: 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #1: AMEND RESIDENCY 

REQUIREMENT AND PROVIDING FOR FORFEITURE OF OFFICE. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would amend the qualifications of the Commission to provide that 

any member serving on the Commission be a resident of the Town for at least twelve (12) 

months and providing that the office of a Commission member shall be forfeited for 

malfeasance or misfeasance. Additionally, this amendment removes “a crime involving moral 

turpitude” as a basis for forfeiture of office of a Commission member. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 1 are as follows: 

 

AMEND RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT AND 

PROVIDING FOR FORFEITURE OF OFFICE 

FOR MALFEASANCE OR MISFEASANCE 

 

Amending the Charter by increasing the residency requirement for Commission members and 

providing for forfeiture of office of a Commission member for malfeasance or misfeasance. 

This amendment will increase the residency requirement for Commission members from six 

(6) months to twelve (12) months prior to the date of qualification for office. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.02. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article II, Section 2.02 

The Commission shall consist of five (5) members elected by the qualified voters of the Town 

4



Page 3 of 15 

 

as hereinafter provided. Members of the Town Commission shall have been residents of the 

Town for at least six (6) twelve (12) months prior to the date of qualification for office, and 

shall have the qualifications of a Town Elector. The Commission shall consist of five (5) 

Commissioners: The Mayor elected as such, and four (4) Commissioners-at-Large. 

The office of Commission member shall be forfeited whenever a member is finally convicted 

of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, malfeasance, or misfeasance. When a member 

files for election to or accepts any other elective public office, he shall submit his resignation. 

This resignation shall be effective when his former office is filled or when he accepts an 

elective office, whichever comes first. 

*** 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #2: AMENDING WHEN 

COMMISSIONERS ASSUME OFFICE AND MINIMUM TERM LIMITATIONS. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment provides that an elected Commissioner shall take office at the 

beginning of the next regular Town Commission meeting following an election, decreases the 

time a Commissioner or Mayor is prohibited from serving on the Commission due to term 

limitations from one (1) year to eleven (11) months, and removes unnecessary language 

relating to the November 2, 2004 election. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 2 are as follows: 

 

PROVIDE WHEN ELECTED COMMISSIONERS 

SHALL ASSUME OFFICE AND MINIMUM 

TERM LIMITATIONS 

 

Amending the Charter by providing an elected Commissioner shall assume office at the next 

regularly scheduled Commission meeting following an election and amending the time an 

elected official may not serve on the Commission due to term limitations from one (1) year to 

eleven (11) months. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

5



Page 4 of 15 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.03. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article II, Section 2.03 

(a)   Elected Commissioners shall take office at the beginning of the next official regular 

Town Commission meeting following the municipal election at which they were elected. 

They shall hold office for a term of three (3) years, or until their successors are elected and 

qualified certified by the Brevard County Supervisor of Elections, unless: 

(1)   The individual has been appointed or elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-

Large who has been removed from office other than by means of recall, forfeited the office 

of Commissioner-at-Large, resigned, or the office has become vacant due to the death of a 

Commissioner-at-Large. In such event, a successor Commissioner-at-Large shall assume 

office in the manner set forth in Section 2.04. in this Charter. 

(2)   The individual has been elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-Large who 

has been recalled from said office by the electorate. In such event a newly elected 

Commissioner-at-Large who is replacing a Commissioner-at-Large recalled from office shall 

serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in the term 

of the recalled Commissioner-at-Large's term; or 

          (3)   The individual is elected to fill a term otherwise consistent with this Charter. 

      (b)   Neither a commission member or the mayor may qualify for or serve more than two 

(2) complete consecutive terms and the portion of an unexpired term occurring by reason of a 

vacancy. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an elected city official, such as a commissioner, who 

has served the maximum time in office as permitted by this paragraph, may qualify for and be 

elected to serve in a different city elected office, such as mayor. Further, a commissioner or the 

mayor who has served the maximum amount of time permitted by this sub- section may again 

serve on the commission subject to the time and term limitations of this sub-section; provided, 

that the official has not served on the commission for at least one (1) year (three hundred sixty-

five (365) days = one (1) year). eleven (11) months. Any city elected official who resigns within 

one (1) year (three hundred sixty-five (365) days = one (1) year) before the end of the second 

consecutive term of office shall be prohibited from qualifying as a candidate for a commission 

seat in the next regular city election. This paragraph shall be applicable to any commission 

member or the mayor who, subsequent to the election held on November 2, 2004, has served 

for two (2) complete consecutive terms and which terms have been served in full after 

November 2, 2004. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

 

6



Page 5 of 15 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #3: APPOINTMENT TO COMMISSION 

DUE TO VACANCY. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment provides that an appointed Commission member as a result of a 

vacancy shall serve until the next general election for which the qualifying period has not 

begun at the time of the vacancy.  

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 3 are as follows: 

 

PROVIDE THE TIME PERIOD FOR A 

COMMISSIONER TO SERVE AS A RESULT OF 

AN APPOINTMENT DUE TO VACANCY 

 

Amending the Charter by specifying the time period for a Commissioner to serve as a result of 

an appointment due to vacancy. This amendment specifies that an appointed Commissioner 

shall serve until the next general municipal election for which the qualifying period has not 

begun at the time of the vacancy. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.04. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article II, Section 2.04 

A vacancy shall occur upon the death, resignation, removal from office (other than by 

recall) as authorized by law, or forfeiture of office of a Commission member. When such a 

vacancy occurs, other than that of Mayor, the remaining Commission members may select, by 

the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the remaining membership, a person to fill 

the vacancy. Such an appointed person shall be a qualified elector in the Town, as specified in 

this Charter, and shall serve until the next general municipal election for which the qualifying 

period has not begun at the time of the vacancy, at which time a candidate will be elected to 

serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in the term 

of the Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant. 

In the event the office of Mayor is vacated, the Vice-Mayor assumes the position until the 

next general municipal election, at which time a candidate will be elected to serve for the 

remainder of the Mayor's unexpired term, and a person is appointed or elected to fill the office 

of Commissioner-at-Large held by the Vice-Mayor, all in accordance with the criteria and 

procedures herein provided. Said individual succeeding to the position of Commissioner-at-

7



Page 6 of 15 

 

Large, formerly held by the Vice-Mayor, shall hold office only until the next general municipal 

election. 

If the Commission shall fail to fill a vacancy on the Commission within thirty (30) days 

after it occurs, or whenever two (2) or more vacancies shall occur at the same time, the Mayor 

shall immediately call a special election to fill the vacancy or vacancies. Those elected at the 

special election will serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time 

remaining in the term of the Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant. Among 

the successful candidates those receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected 

for the longest terms. 

In no event shall the Commission consist of more than two (2) commissioners serving on 

an appointive basis. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #4: CANDIDATES RECEIVING 

LARGEST NUMBER OF VOTES ELECTED TO THE LONGEST TERMS. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment removes language pertaining to the 1989 election and provides that 

the candidates receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest 

terms.  

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 4 are as follows: 

 

PROVIDE THAT CANDIDATES RECEIVING 

LARGEST NUMBER OF VOTES ELECTED TO 

THE LONGEST TERMS 

 

Amending the Charter by providing that the candidates for Commissioners-at-Large that 

receive the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest terms to be filled. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.09. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

 

8



Page 7 of 15 

 

Article II, Section 2.09 

 

A total of four (4) Candidates for Commissioners-at-Large shall qualify and run for the four 

(4) open seats. At  the November, 1989 election, the two candidates receiving the largest and 

second largest number of votes shall each be elected to three (3) year terms, while the two 

candidates receiving the third and fourth largest number of votes shall each be elected to two 

(2) year terms. 

 

Among the successful candidates those receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared 

elected for the longest terms. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #5: REMOVING AUTHORITY TO 

APPOINT, SUSPEND, OR REMOVE TOWN CLERK. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would remove the Town Commission’s authority to appoint, suspend, 

or remove the Town Clerk. This amendment is proposed in order to be consistent with the 

Charter amendments adopted on November 7, 2017, which moved supervision of the Town 

Clerk from the Town Commission to the Town Manager. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 5 are as follows: 

 

REMOVING THE TOWN COMMISSION’S 

AUTHORITY TO APPOINT, SUSPEND, OR 

REMOVE TOWN CLERK 

 

Amending the Charter by removing the Town Commission’s authority to appoint, suspend, or 

remove the Town Clerk. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.01. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

 

9



Page 8 of 15 

 

 

Article III, Section 3.01 

 

All powers of the Town shall be vested in an elected Commission, except as otherwise provided 

by this Charter or by law. The Town Commission shall be responsible to the citizens of 

Melbourne Beach for the proper functioning of all Town affairs and to that end, subject to the 

provisions of this Charter, shall have power and are required to: 

 

(a) Appoint, and when necessary for the good of the Town, suspend or remove, the Town 

Manager, Town Clerk or Town Attorney, or members of any board, commission or 

agency, who are appointed by the Town Commission. 

 

(b) Approve any additions or deletions of staff positions upon the recommendation of the 

Town Manager. Such recommendations of the Town Manager shall be made in 

conjunction with the proposed budget for the upcoming year, or may be made at any 

other time if deemed necessary. 

 

(c) Provide policy direction to, and exercise control over, the Town Manager as may be 

required in his role as administrative head of the Town. 

 

(d) Approve an annual Town budget and any amendments to the budget, together with such 

other fiscal reports and programs as may be required, and periodically review the 

financial status of the Town relative to the current budget. 

 

(e) Provide Town representation on intragovernmental groups when such groups are 

composed principally of elected officials or when such representation is deemed 

advisable by the Commission. 

 

(f)   Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or resolution consistent 

with the concept of management of the Town expressed in this Charter. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #6: COMMISSION’S AUTHORITY TO 

FIX SALARY OF TOWN CLERK. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would remove the Town Commission’s authority to fix the salary of 

the Town Clerk. Additionally, the amendment removes the provision that the Town Clerk is to 

“serve the Commission.” This amendment is proposed in order to be consistent with the 

10



Page 9 of 15 

 

Charter amendments adopted on November 7, 2017, which moved supervision of the Town 

Clerk from the Town Commission to the Town Manager. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 6 are as follows: 

 

REMOVING THE TOWN COMMISSION’S 

AUTHORITY TO FIX SALARY OF TOWN 

CLERK 

 

Amending the Charter by removing the Town Commission’s authority to fix the salary of the 

Town Clerk and language that the Town Clerk shall serve the Commission. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.04. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article III, Section 3.04 

 

This office shall be headed by a Town Clerk hired by the Town Manager. to serve the 

Commission. The salary of the Town Clerk shall be fixed by the Commission. The Town 

Manager shall have exclusive supervisory authority over the Town Clerk as a Town employee, 

including the authority to manage, discipline, and terminate consistent with the Town’s 

employment policies, without consent of the Town Commission. The Clerk shall be: Clerk of 

the Commission and shall keep the Commission journal; custodian of ordinances, resolutions, 

and such other official records as the Commission may prescribe; attestor to contracts, bonds, 

and other instruments as may be prescribed by law; chief registration and elections officer of 

the Town; and responsible for other duties so prescribed by the Town Commission or Town 

Manager. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT #7: VICE-MAYOR DUTIES. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would add language that in the event the Mayor is unable or 

unwilling, the Vice-Mayor shall act temporarily in his stead. 

11



Page 10 of 15 

 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question #7 are as follows: 

 

PROVIDE FOR VICE-MAYOR’S DUTIES IF 

MAYOR IS UNABLE OR UNWILLING TO 

PERFORM DUTIES 

 

Amending the Charter by providing that Vice-Mayor shall act temporarily in the Mayor’s stead 

if the Mayor is unable to unwilling to perform duties. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

     _______ Yes 

 

     _______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.08. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article II, Section 2.08 

 

The Vice-Mayor shall be elected annually by the Commissioners from the body of 

Commissioners-at-Large. Should the office of Mayor fall vacant, in accordance with Section 

2.04, the Vice-Mayor would become Mayor until the next general municipal election, at which 

time a successor would be elected Mayor and the Vice-Mayor temporarily filling the position 

of Mayor will return without election to a Town Commission seat for the remainder of his or 

her term. In the absence or disability of the Mayor, or if the Mayor is unable or unwilling, the 

Vice-Mayor shall act temporarily in his stead with full powers to discharge the duties of the 

office so assumed. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #8: ADJOURNMENT OF MEETINGS. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would clarify the requirement for the Commission to vote to adjourn. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 8 are as follows: 

 

CLARIFY THE REQUIREMENT FOR 

COMMISSION TO VOTE TO ADJOURN 

12



Page 11 of 15 

 

 

Amending the Charter by providing that less than three (3) Commission members may vote to 

adjourn Commission meetings. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.12. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article II, Section 2.12 

 

Three (3) members of the Commission shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number may 

vote to adjourn from day to day. No action of the Commission, except raising a quorum, shall 

be valid or binding unless adopted by the affirmative vote of at least three (3) members of the 

Commission. The Commission shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall 

provide for the keeping of a journal of its proceedings. The journal shall be a public record and 

shall be open to public inspection. The Commission may prescribe for expulsion of disorderly 

persons from its meetings. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #9: TOWN ATTORNEY. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would clarify that the Town Commission shall fix and approve the 

salary and/or contract of the Town Attorney. It further removes the requirement that the Town 

Attorney be the prosecutor in the Town court. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 9 are as follows: 

 

PROVIDING TOWN ATTORNEY’S 

SALARY/CONTRACT FIXED AND APPROVED 

BY COMMISSION 

 

Amending the Charter by providing the Town Attorney’s salary and/or contract shall be fixed 

and approved by the Town Commission. This amendment also removes the requirement that 

the Town Attorney be the prosecutor in the Town court. 

13



Page 12 of 15 

 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.05. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article III, Section 3.05 

 

This office shall be held by an attorney, appointed by the Commission. The salary and/or 

contract of the Town Attorney shall be fixed and approved by the Commission. The Town 

Attorney shall be legal advisor and attorney to the officers of the Town in matters affecting the 

Town or relating to their official duties; prosecute and defend in behalf of the Town all civil 

actions in which the Town is a party; prepare and endorse written instruments in which the 

Town is concerned; be prosecutor in the Town court; and perform other duties as the 

Commission may require or as may be prescribed by general state law, consistent with this 

Charter and with ordinances or resolutions of the Commission. One or more assistants may 

perform any duties of the Town Attorney. The Town Attorney and his assistants shall be 

lawyers admitted to and having authority to practice in all courts of the state, as well as the 

Federal District Court. 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #10: CODE OF ETHICS. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment amends the prohibition on officers and employees of the Town to 

accept gifts as defined in Section 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, and specifies 

the statutes applicable to the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 10 are as follows: 

 

AMENDING THE CHARTER TO DEFINE 

UNACCEPTABLE GIFT AND SPECIFYING 

APPLICABLE FLORIDA STATUTES 

 

14



Page 13 of 15 

 

Amending the Charter by providing incorporating the definition of “unacceptable gift” as 

defined in Sections 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, and specifying the applicable 

statutory sections for the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.11. (Underline text is added to the Charter and 

strikethrough text is removed). 

 

Article III, Section 3.11 

The following code of ethics shall apply to all officers and employees of the municipality, 

whether elected or appointed, paid or unpaid. By majority vote of the Commissioners, the 

Commission may vote to censure a member for violating this code. No officer or employee of 

the Town shall knowingly: 

(a)   Engage in any business or transaction or have a financial or other personal interest, direct 

or indirect, which is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official duties or would tend 

to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of his official 

duties; 

(b)   Engage in or accept private employment or render services for private interests when such 

employment or service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official duties, or would 

tend to impair his independence of judgment or action in the performance of his official duties; 

(c)   Disclose confidential information concerning the property, government, or affairs of the 

governmental body by which he is employed, without proper legal authorization, or use such 

information to advance the financial or other private interest of himself or others; 

(d)   Accept any valuable unacceptable gift as defined in Sections 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), 

Florida Statutes, whether in the form of service, loan, thing item, whether tangible or 

intangible, or promise, from any person, firm, or corporation which to his knowledge is 

interested directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever in business dealings with the 

governmental body by which he is employed; provided, however, that any such officer or 

employee who is a candidate for public office may accept campaign contributions and services 

in connection with any such campaign; 

(e)   Represent private interests in any action or proceeding against the governmental body by 

which he is employed; 

(f)   Vote or otherwise participate in the negotiation or the making of any contract involving 

the Town with any business or entity in which he has a financial interest; 

(g)   Have any private financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract or matter pending 

before or within any department of the Town, [and if so] shall disclose such private interest on 

15



Page 14 of 15 

 

the records of the Commission, and shall disqualify himself from participating in any decision 

or vote relating thereto; 

(h)   Use property owned by such governmental body for personal benefit, convenience, or 

profit except in accordance with policies of the Commission; or 

(i)   Violate the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees as provided for in Sections 

112.311 through 112.3261, Florida Statutes, as may be amended or the Florida Election Code, 

as set forth in Florida Statutes, and implementing rules thereof, and if a Town officer or 

employee has been found to have violated the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 

Employees by the Florida Commission on Ethics or the Florida Election Code by the Florida 

Elections Commission, or implementing rules thereof, he or she may be censured by the Town 

Commission. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

TOWN CHARTER AMENDMENT QUESTION #11: INCLUSION OF HE/SHE AND 

HIS/HER. 

 

A. Introduction. 

 

This Charter amendment would replace “he” to “he or she” and “his” to “his or her” so as to 

include both genders when describing a Commission member and his or her office and the 

Town Officials and his or her position. 

 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # 11 are as follows: 

 

REPLACING “HE” AND “HIS” AND 

INCLUDING “HE OR SHE” OR “HIS AND HER” 

 

Amending the Charter by removing any references to “he” and “his” and replacing these terms 

with “he or she” or “his and her” throughout the Charter. This Charter amendment does not 

create any new rights, duties, obligations, or prohibitions. 

 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: NONE. 

 

_______ Yes 

 

_______ No 

 

C. Text Revisions: The Charter would be amended when there is any reference to “he” and “his” 

and replaced with “he or she” or “his or her.” 

 

 

16



Page 15 of 15 

 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 

approximately NONE. 

 

 

 Section 4. The Town Clerk is hereby directed to ensure that all advertising, translation, 

and notice requirements are complied with and to coordinate all activities necessary to conduct the 

election called for in Section 2 of this Ordinance with the Supervisor of Elections for Brevard 

County. 

 

 Section 5. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this 

Ordinance is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, 

such portion shall be deemed a separate, district, and independent provision and such holding shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining portion hereto. Further, the lack of approval by a majority 

of electors of one or more separate amendments to this Charter, as set forth in Section 2 herein, 

shall not be deemed to affect the validity of any amendments that may be approved by a majority 

of the electors. 

 

 Section 6. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval by the Town 

Commission. The revised Charter provisions proposed for approval in this Ordinance shall become 

effective upon their approval at a referendum election of the electors of the Town of Melbourne 

Beach and in accordance with Section 166.031, Florida Statutes. If the electors reject a proposed 

amendment, the rejected amendment shall not take effect. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this ____ day of ________________, 2025, by the Town 

Commission of the Town of Melbourne Beach, Florida. 

 

PASSED ON FIRST READING: ___________________ 

 

PASSED ON SECOND READING: ___________________ 

 

       

 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH, FLORIDA 

 

 

      By:________________________ 

      ALISON DENNINGTON, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

      (TOWN SEAL) 

______________________ 

Amber Brown, Town Clerk 

 

17



Chair James Simmons 
Vice Chair Bruce Larson 
Kathryn Ivers-Osthus 
Charles Leps Jr. 
Jessica Martinez 

TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 

2025 CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 

FINAL REPORT 

THE FINAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 2025 CHARTER 
REVIEW COMMITTEE PROPOSING TO AMEND THE TOWN OF MELBOURNE 
BEACH CHARTER TO: RECOGNIZE BOTH GENDERS IN THE CHARTER; 
AMENDING RESIDENCY REQUIREMENTS; PROVIDE TIME TO ASSUMING 
OFFICE AND TERM LIMITATIONS; AMEND VACANCY APPOINTMENT PERIOD; 
PROVIDE CANDIDATES RECEIVING LARGEST AMOUNT OF VOTES SHALL BE 
ELECTED TO THE LONGEST TERMS; CLARIFY REQUIREMENT TO COMMISSION 
TO VOTE TO ADJOURN; REMOVING AUTHORITY TO APPOINT, SUSPEND, OR 
REMOVE TOWN CLERK; PROHIBITING COMMISSION MEMBERS FROM 
INTERFERENCE EXCEPT THROUGH TOWN MANAGER UNLESS AUTHORIZED BY 
A MAJORITY OF THE TOWN COMMISSION; REMOVING AUTHORITY TO FIX 
SALARY OF TOWN CLERK; PROVIDING TOWN ATTORNEY’S 
SALARY/CONTRACT FIXED AND APPROVED BY TOWN COMMISSION; 
AMENDING CHARTER TO DEFINE UNACCEPTABLE GIFT AND SPECIFYING 
FLORIDA STATUTES. 

1

18



Table of Contents 

Section I – Cover Letter …………………………………………………4 

Section II – Introduction/Summary of Meetings ………………………..7 

Section III – Amendments Recommended by the 2025 
Charter Review Committee to be Placed on the 2025 
Election Ballot by the Town Commission ………………………..10 

Amendment #1 – He/She/His/Her ……………………………….11 

Amendment #2 – Section 2.02 …………………………………...12 

Amendment #3 – Section 2.03 …………………………………..14 

Amendment #4 – Section 2.04 …………………………………..16 

Amendment #5 – Section 2.09 …………………………………..18 

Amendment #6 – Section 2.12 …………………………………..19 

Amendment #7 – Section 3.01 …………………………………..20 

Amendment #8 – Section 3.03 …………………………………..22 

Amendment #9 – Section 3.04 …………………………………..24 

Amendment #10 – Section 3.05 ………………………………….26 

Amendment #11 – Section 3.11 ………………………………….28 

Spanish Translations of Ballot Questions ……………………………...30 

2

19



Section IV – Exhibits …………………………………………………..31 

A. Minutes of CRC Meetings …………………………………….32 
B. Matrix of Proposed Charter Amendments ………………...…..74 

3

20



 
 
 
 

SECTION I – COVER LETTER 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4

21



Chair James Simmons 
Vice Chair Bruce Larson 
Kathryn Ivers-Osthus 
Charles Leps Jr. 
Jessica Martinez 

April 28, 2025 

Dear Mayor and Commission Members, 

On behalf of the Charter Review Committee, we greatly appreciate the honor of serving 
together for this review. We met, discussed, reviewed, and researched the Town Charter in its 
current form and our recommendations for amendments to the Town Charter are attached. 

The current Town Charter references to only “he” or “his” are made. The Committee 
believes it is appropriate to update the Town Charter to provide for “she” and “her” in the updated 
Town Charter. These recommendations are made throughout the Town Charter. 

Article II: The Committee is making the recommendation for residency requirements for 
members of the Town Commission be increased from six (6) months to twelve (12) months, as it 
believes this would provide candidates with roots firmly established in the Town. The Committee 
is also recommending updating the forfeiture of office provision for Commission members to 
include malfeasance and misfeasance. 

Further, the Committee is making the recommendation that the term of office and vacancy 
provisions be amended to clarify the amount of time a Commission member that has served two 
(2) complete consecutive terms must wait until serving on the Commission again and clarify the
time period an appointed Commission member shall serve. The Committee has also recommended
language providing that the candidate with the largest number of votes shall be declared elected
for the longest term available. Issues related to these items have occurred within the past few years
and the Committee believes its recommendations will provide clarity on these issues moving
forward.

Article III: The Committee spent a great deal of time discussing the Office of the Town 
Manager, Office of the Town Clerk, and the Code of Ethics. The Committee believes it is important 
to revise the non-interference clause to promote the efficient use of staff time and resources, while 

5

22



23



SECTION II – INTRODUCTION 

7

24



TOWN OF MELBOURNE BEACH 
2025 CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 

INTRODUCTION 

Following the establishment of the 2025 Charter Review Committee, pursuant to 
Resolution 2024-14, the Charter Review Committee held eight (8) public meetings on January 27, 
February 10, February 18, March 24, March 31, April 14, April 21, and April 23, 2025, to discuss 
the Town’s Charter and make recommendations for the Town Commission’s consideration. The 
Committee members include James Simmons, Bruce Larson, Kathyrn Ivers-Osthus, Charles Leps 
Jr., and Jessica Martinez. James Simmons was elected as chair of the Committee and Bruce Larson 
was elected vice-chair. All meetings were publicly noticed, public comment was welcomed, and 
minutes were kept in accordance with Florida’s Sunshine and Public Records Laws. 

At the first meeting, a presentation was made by the Town Attorney regarding the charter 
review process, ballot summary requirements, and Florida’s Sunshine and Public Records laws. 
By consensus, the Committee decided to review the entire Charter section by section. At its 
February 10, 2025, meeting, the Committee reviewed Articles I and II of the Charter and a great 
deal of discussion occurred regarding the Commission’s composition and qualifications and terms 
of office. On February 18, 2025, the Committee discussed Articles II and III. On March 24, 2025, 
the Committee continued reviewing the Charter at Section 3.03. At its March 31, 2025, meeting, 
the Committee completed its review of the Charter. On April 14, 2025, the Committee reviewed 
its proposed amendments to the Charter, narrowed and revised the proposed amendments, and 
determined the amendments the Committee considered to be “high” priority and “lower” priority. 
The high priority amendments are as follows: 

Section 2.03 – Term of Office 
Section 2.04 – Vacancies on the Commission 
Section 2.09 – Commissioners-at-Large 
Section 3.01 – Powers and Duties of the Town Commission 
Section 3.03 – Office of the Town Manager 
Section 3.04 – Office of the Town Clerk 

The following amendments were assigned a lower priority as they do not impact Town operations. 
Additionally, the Committee was also concerned about the amount of ballot proposals. The lower 
priority amendments are as follows: 

He/She/His/Her Amendments 
Section 2.02 – Composition and Qualifications 
Section 2.12 – Legislative Procedure 
Section 3.05 – Office of the Town Attorney 
Section 3.11 – Code of Ethics 

8

25



 On April 23, 2025, the Committee voted to propose eleven (11) charter amendments to the 
Town Commission for consideration to be placed on the ballot for the November election. 
Additionally, the 2025 Charter Review Committee approved this Final Report for the Town 
Commission’s consideration on April 28, 2025. 

9

26



 
 
 
 
SECTION III – AMENDMENTS RECOMMENDED 

BY 2025 CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 

10

27



***Lower Priority*** 
 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – 
Recognition of Both Genders 

 
A. Introduction. 
 

This Charter amendment would replace “he” to “he or she” and “his” to “his or her” so as to 
recognize both genders when describing a Commission member and his or her office and the 
Town Officials and his or her position. 
 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows: 
 

REPLACING “HE” AND “HIS” AND 
INCLUDING “HE OR SHE” OR “HIS AND HER” 
 

Amending the Charter by removing any references to “he” and “his” and replacing these terms 
with “he or she” or “his and her” throughout the Charter. This Charter amendment does not 
create any new rights, duties, obligations, or prohibitions. 
 
Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 
 

_______ Yes 
 
_______ No 
 

C. Text Revisions: The Charter would be amended when there is any reference to “he” and “his” 
and replaced with “he or she” or “his or her.” 

 
D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 
Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 
approximately ____________________, which represents 
____________________________. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11

28



***Lower Priority*** 
 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 2.02 
 

A. Introduction. 
 

This Charter amendment would amend the qualifications of the Commission to provide that 
any member serving on the Commission be a resident of the Town for at least twelve (12) 
months and providing that the office of a Commission member shall be forfeited for 
malfeasance or misfeasance. Additionally, this amendment removes “a crime involving moral 
turpitude” as a basis for forfeiture of office of a Commission member. 
 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows: 
 

AMEND RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT AND 
PROVIDING FOR FORFEITURE OF OFFICE 
FOR MALFEASANCE OR MISFEASANCE 
 

Amending the Charter by increasing the residency requirement for Commission members and 
providing for forfeiture of office of a Commission member for malfeasance or misfeasance. 
This amendment will increase the residency requirement for Commission members from six 
(6) months to twelve (12) months prior to the date of qualification for office. 
 
Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 
 

_______ Yes 
 
_______ No 
 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.02, amending to reflect the increase in residency 
requirements and provide for malfeasance and misfeasance for forfeiture of office. (Underline 
text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is removed). 

 
Article II, Section 2.02 

The Commission shall consist of five (5) members elected by the qualified voters of the Town 
as hereinafter provided. Members of the Town Commission shall have been residents of the 
Town for at least six (6) twelve (12) months prior to the date of qualification for office, and 
shall have the qualifications of a Town Elector. The Commission shall consist of five (5) 
Commissioners: The Mayor elected as such, and four (4) Commissioners-at-Large. 

The office of Commission member shall be forfeited whenever a member is finally convicted 
of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, malfeasance, or misfeasance. When a member 
files for election to or accepts any other elective public office, he or she shall submit his or her 
resignation. This resignation shall be effective when his or her former office is filled or when 
he or she accepts an elective office, whichever comes first. 

12

29



Any qualified elector of the Town who meets the foregoing qualifications may qualify for a 
Commission seat by presenting to the Town Clerk a petition signed by twenty-five (25) 
qualified Town electors, and by paying a filing fee, during the qualifying period as established 
from time to time in the town code of ordinances, and said elector shall submit concurrently 
therewith a sworn statement of his or her name, address, occupation, and willingness to serve 
if elected. Until otherwise provided by Town ordinance, the filing fee shall be ten dollars 
($10.00). 

The Commission shall be the judge of the qualifications of the candidates for election to the 
Commission, and for such purpose shall have the powers to subpoena witnesses and require 
the production of evidence, but the decision of the Commission in any such case shall be 
subject to review by the courts. 

Each person seeking to qualify for election to office as a write-in candidate shall certify under 
oath to the Town Clerk during the qualifying period as established from time to time in the 
town code of ordinances the following information: 

Name, address, that he or she possessed all of the qualifications required by law for the office, 
the name of the office he seeks, and that he will accept the office. 

Failure to qualify as a write-in candidate shall mean that any write-in votes cast for such person 
shall not be counted. 

At the time of certifying under oath the above information, a write-in candidate shall be 
considered a candidate except that he or she shall not be entitled to have his name printed on 
the ballot. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

13

30



***High Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 2.03 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment provides that an elected Commissioner shall take office at the
beginning of the next regular Town Commission meeting following an election, decreases the
time a Commissioner or Mayor is prohibited from serving on the Commission due to term
limitations from one (1) year to eleven (11) months, and removes unnecessary language
relating to the November 2, 2004 election.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

PROVIDE WHEN ELECTED COMMISSIONERS 
SHALL ASSUME OFFICE AND MINIMUM 
TERM LIMITATIONS 

Amending the Charter by providing an elected Commissioner shall assume office at the next 
regularly scheduled Commission meeting following an election and amending the time an 
elected official may not serve on the Commission due to term limitations from one (1) year to 
eleven (11) months. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.03, amending to reflect the increase in residency
requirements and provide for malfeasance and misfeasance for forfeiture of office. (Underline
text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is removed).

Article II, Section 2.03

(a) Elected Commissioners shall take office at the beginning of the next official regular
Town Commission meeting following the municipal election at which they were elected. They 
shall hold office for a term of three (3) years, or until their successors are elected and qualified 
certified by the Brevard County Supervisor of Elections, unless: 

(1) The individual has been appointed or elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-
Large who has been removed from office other than by means of recall, forfeited the office of 
Commissioner-at-Large, resigned, or the office has become vacant due to the death of a 
Commissioner-at-Large. In such event, a successor Commissioner-at-Large shall assume office 
in the manner set forth in Section 2.04. in this Charter. 

14

31



(2) The individual has been elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-Large who
has been recalled from said office by the electorate. In such event a newly elected 
Commissioner-at-Large who is replacing a Commissioner-at-Large recalled from office shall 
serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in the term of 
the recalled Commissioner-at-Large's term; or 

(3) The individual is elected to fill a term otherwise consistent with this Charter.

(b) Neither a commission member or the mayor may qualify for or serve more than two (2)
complete consecutive terms and the portion of an unexpired term occurring by reason of a vacancy. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, an elected city official, such as a commissioner, who has served 
the maximum time in office as permitted by this paragraph, may qualify for and be elected to serve 
in a different city elected office, such as mayor. Further, a commissioner or the mayor who has 
served the maximum amount of time permitted by this sub- section may again serve on the 
commission subject to the time and term limitations of this sub-section; provided, that the official 
has not served on the commission for at least one (1) year (three hundred sixty-five (365) days = 
one (1) year). eleven (11) months. Any city elected official who resigns within one (1) year (three 
hundred sixty-five (365) days = one (1) year) before the end of the second consecutive term of 
office shall be prohibited from qualifying as a candidate for a commission seat in the next regular 
city election. This paragraph shall be applicable to any commission member or the mayor who, 
subsequent to the election held on November 2, 2004, has served for two (2) complete consecutive 
terms and which terms have been served in full after November 2, 2004. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

15

32



***High Priority*** 
 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 2.04 
 

A. Introduction. 
 

This Charter amendment provides that an appointed Commission member as a result of a 
vacancy shall serve until the next general election for which the qualifying period has not 
begun at the time of the vacancy.  
 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows: 
 

PROVIDE THE TIME PERIOD FOR A 
COMMISSIONER TO SERVE AS A RESULT OF 
AN APPOINTMENT DUE TO VACANCY 
 

Amending the Charter by specifying the time period for a Commissioner to serve as a result of 
an appointment due to vacancy. This amendment specifies that an appointed Commissioner 
shall serve until the next general municipal election for which the qualifying period has not 
begun at the time of the vacancy. 
 
Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 
 

_______ Yes 
 
_______ No 
 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.04, amending to specify the time period an appointed 
Commissioner shall serve. (Underline text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is 
removed). 

 
Article II, Section 2.04 

A vacancy shall occur upon the death, resignation, removal from office (other than by recall) 
as authorized by law, or forfeiture of office of a Commission member. When such a vacancy 
occurs, other than that of Mayor, the remaining Commission members may select, by the 
affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the remaining membership, a person to fill the 
vacancy. Such an appointed person shall be a qualified elector in the Town, as specified in this 
Charter, and shall serve until the next general municipal election for which the qualifying period 
has not begun at the time of the vacancy, at which time a candidate will be elected to serve a 
term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in the term of the 
Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant. 

In the event the office of Mayor is vacated, the Vice-Mayor assumes the position until the 
next general municipal election, at which time a candidate will be elected to serve for the 
remainder of the Mayor's unexpired term, and a person is appointed or elected to fill the office of 

16

33



Commissioner-at-Large held by the Vice-Mayor, all in accordance with the criteria and 
procedures herein provided. Said individual succeeding to the position of Commissioner-at-
Large, formerly held by the Vice-Mayor, shall hold office only until the next general municipal 
election. 

If the Commission shall fail to fill a vacancy on the Commission within thirty (30) days after 
it occurs, or whenever two (2) or more vacancies shall occur at the same time, the Mayor shall 
immediately call a special election to fill the vacancy or vacancies. Those elected at the special 
election will serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in 
the term of the Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant. Among the successful 
candidates those receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest 
terms. 

In no event shall the Commission consist of more than two (2) commissioners serving on an 
appointive basis. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

17

34



***High Priority*** 
 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 2.09 
 

A. Introduction. 
 

This Charter amendment removes language pertaining to the 1989 election and provides that 
the candidates receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest 
terms.  
 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows: 
 

PROVIDE THAT CANDIDATES RECEIVING 
LARGEST NUMBER OF VOTES ELECTED TO 
THE LONGEST TERMS 
 

Amending the Charter by providing that the candidates for Commissioners-at-Large that 
receive the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest terms to be filled. 
 
Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 
 

_______ Yes 
 
_______ No 
 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.09, amending to specify the time period an appointed 
Commissioner shall serve. (Underline text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is 
removed). 

 
Article II, Section 2.09 
 
A total of four (4) Candidates for Commissioners-at-Large shall qualify and run for the four 
(4) open seats. At  the November, 1989 election, the two candidates receiving the largest and 
second largest number of votes shall each be elected to three (3) year terms, while the two 
candidates receiving the third and fourth largest number of votes shall each be elected to two 
(2) year terms. 
 
Among the successful candidates those receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared 
elected for the longest terms. 
 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 
 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 
approximately ____________________, which represents 
____________________________. 

 

18

35



***Lower Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 2.12 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment would clarify the requirement for the Commission to vote to adjourn.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

CLARIFY THE REQUIREMENT FOR 
COMMISSION TO VOTE TO ADJOURN 

Amending the Charter by providing that less than three (3) Commission members may vote to 
adjourn Commission meetings. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article II, Section 2.12. (Underline text is added to the Charter and
strikethrough text is removed).

Article II, Section 2.12

Three (3) members of the Commission shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number may
vote to adjourn from day to day. No action of the Commission, except raising a quorum, shall
be valid or binding unless adopted by the affirmative vote of at least three (3) members of the
Commission. The Commission shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall
provide for the keeping of a journal of its proceedings. The journal shall be a public record and
shall be open to public inspection. The Commission may prescribe for expulsion of disorderly
persons from its meetings.

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

19

36



***High Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 3.01 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment would remove the Town Commission’s authority to appoint, suspend,
or remove the Town Clerk. This amendment is required in order to be consistent with the
Charter amendments adopted on November 7, 2017, which moved supervision of the Town
Clerk from the Town Commission to the Town Manager.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

REMOVING THE TOWN COMMISSION’S 
AUTHORITY TO APPOINT, SUSPEND, OR 
REMOVE TOWN CLERK 

Amending the Charter by removing the Town Commission’s authority to appoint, suspend, or 
remove the Town Clerk. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.01. (Underline text is added to the Charter and
strikethrough text is removed).

Article III, Section 3.01

All powers of the Town shall be vested in an elected Commission, except as otherwise provided
by this Charter or by law. The Town Commission shall be responsible to the citizens of
Melbourne Beach for the proper functioning of all Town affairs and to that end, subject to the
provisions of this Charter, shall have power and are required to:

(a) Appoint, and when necessary for the good of the Town, suspend or remove, the Town
Manager, Town Clerk or Town Attorney, or members of any board, commission or
agency, who are appointed by the Town Commission.

(b) Approve any additions or deletions of staff positions upon the recommendation of the
Town Manager. Such recommendations of the Town Manager shall be made in
conjunction with the proposed budget for the upcoming year, or may be made at any
other time if deemed necessary.

20

37



(c) Provide policy direction to, and exercise control over, the Town Manager as may be
required in his role as administrative head of the Town.

(d) Approve an annual Town budget and any amendments to the budget, together with such
other fiscal reports and programs as may be required, and periodically review the
financial status of the Town relative to the current budget.

(e) Provide Town representation on intragovernmental groups when such groups are
composed principally of elected officials or when such representation is deemed
advisable by the Commission.

(f) Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or resolution consistent
with the concept of management of the Town expressed in this Charter. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

21

38



***High Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 3.03 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment requires the Town Commission to set the salary and benefits of the
Town Manager and amends the prohibition on members of the Town Commission from
interfering with the administration of the Town except through the Town Manager. Many cities
operating under the commission-manager form of government have a charter provision
prohibiting members of the town commission from interfering with the operations of the Town
except through the Town Manager.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

PROHIBITING TOWN COMMISSION 
MEMBERS FROM INTERERING WITH 
OPERATIONS EXCEPT THROUGH TOWN 
MANAGER 

Amending the prohibition on Town Commission members interfering with Town operations 
except through the Town Manager. This amendment also provides that the Town Commission 
shall set the salary and benefits of the Town Manager. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.03, amending to specify the time period an appointed
Commissioner shall serve. (Underline text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is
removed).

Article III, Section 3.03

(a) This office shall be headed by a Town Manager, who shall be appointed by the Town
Commission on the basis of his or her executive and administrative qualifications. The Town 
Commission shall set the salary and benefits of the Town Manager. The Town Manager shall be 
the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town, and shall be directly responsible to the Commission 
for all Town affairs placed in his or her charge by this Charter or by ordinance or resolution. The 
Town Manager when necessary shall appoint, suspend, demote or dismiss any Town employee 
under his or her jurisdiction in accordance with the law and the personnel rules, and may authorize 
any Department Head to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that department. 
The Town Manager shall direct and supervise the administration of all departments of the Town 

22

39



except the Office of Town Attorney, and shall attend all Commission meetings unless excused by 
the Commission, and shall have the right to take part in discussions, but not vote. He or she shall 
see that all laws, Charter provisions, ordinances, resolutions, and other acts of the Commission 
subject to enforcement by him or her are faithfully executed. The Town Manager shall also prepare 
and submit the annual budget, budget message, and capital program to the commission, and shall 
keep the Commission fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the Town, and 
shall be responsible for adhering to the approved budget. The Town Manager shall make such 
recommendations to the Commission concerning the affairs of the Town as he or she deems 
advisable. The Town Manager shall endorse all instruments in writing in which the Town is 
interested, sign Town checks as authorized by the Town Commission, and execute contracts on 
behalf of the Town, unless the Commission shall otherwise provide. The Town Manager shall by 
letter designate an Acting Town Manager to exercise his or her powers and perform his or her 
duties during temporary absences or disability of the Town Manager. The Commission may revoke 
such designation at any time and appoint another eligible person to serve as Acting Town Manager. 

   (b)   Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigations, the Town Commission or its 
members shall not give orders or directions to any officer or employee of the Town who is under 
the direction and supervision of the Town Manager, and shall deal with such officers and 
employees only through the Town Manager. 

The Town Commission or its members shall not give directions to or interfere with any officer or 
employee of the Town who is under the direction and supervision of the Town Manager. The Town 
Commission may direct by a majority vote the Town Manager or Town staff to support inquiries 
and/or investigations. 

 
D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 

 
Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 
approximately ____________________, which represents 
____________________________. 

 

23

40



***High Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 3.04 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment would remove the Town Commission’s authority to fix the salary of
the Town Clerk. Additionally, the amendment removes the provision that the Town Clerk is to
“serve the Commission.” This amendment is required in order to be consistent with the Charter
amendments adopted on November 7, 2017, which moved supervision of the Town Clerk from
the Town Commission to the Town Manager.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

REMOVING THE TOWN COMMISSION’S 
AUTHORITY TO FIX SALARY OF TOWN 
CLERK 

Amending the Charter by removing the Town Commission’s authority to fix the salary of the 
Town Clerk. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.04. (Underline text is added to the Charter and
strikethrough text is removed).

Article III, Section 3.04

This office shall be headed by a Town Clerk hired by the Town Manager. to serve the
Commission. The salary of the Town Clerk shall be fixed by the Commission. The Town
Manager shall have exclusive supervisory authority over the Town Clerk as a Town employee,
including the authority to manage, discipline, and terminate consistent with the Town’s
employment policies, without consent of the Town Commission. The Clerk shall be: Clerk of
the Commission and shall keep the Commission journal; custodian of ordinances, resolutions,
and such other official records as the Commission may prescribe; attestor to contracts, bonds,
and other instruments as may be prescribed by law; chief registration and elections officer of
the Town; and responsible for other duties so prescribed by the Town Commission or Town
Manager.

24

41



D. Financial Analysis and Impact: 
 

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is 
approximately ____________________, which represents 
____________________________. 
 

 

25

42



***Lower Priority*** 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 3.05 

A. Introduction.

This Charter amendment would clarify that the Town Commission shall fix and approve the
salary and/or contract of the Town Attorney. It further removes the requirement that the Town
Attorney be the prosecutor in the Town court.

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows:

PROVIDING TOWN ATTORNEY’S 
SALARY/CONTRACT FIXED AND APPROVED 
BY COMMISSION 

Amending the Charter by providing the Town Attorney’s salary and/or contract shall be fixed 
and approved by the Town Commission. This amendment also removes the requirement that 
the Town Attorney be the prosecutor in the Town court. 

Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 

_______ Yes 

_______ No 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.05. (Underline text is added to the Charter and
strikethrough text is removed).

Article III, Section 3.05

This office shall be held by an attorney, appointed by the Commission. The salary and/or
contract of the Town Attorney shall be fixed and approved by the Commission. The Town
Attorney shall be legal advisor and attorney to the officers of the Town in matters affecting the
Town or relating to their official duties; prosecute and defend in behalf of the Town all civil
actions in which the Town is a party; prepare and endorse written instruments in which the
Town is concerned; be prosecutor in the Town court; and perform other duties as the
Commission may require or as may be prescribed by general state law, consistent with this
Charter and with ordinances or resolutions of the Commission. One or more assistants may
perform any duties of the Town Attorney. The Town Attorney and his or her assistants shall be
lawyers admitted to and having authority to practice in all courts of the state, as well as the
Federal District Court.

26

43



D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

27

44



***Lower Priority*** 
 

Ballot Title, Summary and Proposed Amendment – Section 3.11 
 

A. Introduction. 
 

This Charter amendment amends the prohibition on officers and employees of the Town to 
accept gifts as defined in Section 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, and specifies 
the statute sections applicable to the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees. 
 

B. Ballot Proposal: The ballot title and question for Question # ___ are as follows: 
 

AMENDING THE CHARTER TO DEFINE 
UNACCEPTABLE GIFT AND SPECIFYING 
APPLICABLE FLORIDA STATUTES 
 

Amending the Charter by providing incorporating the definition of “unacceptable gift” as 
defined in Sections 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, and specifying the applicable 
statutory sections for the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees. 
 
Budget Director’s estimated financial impact: ____________________________. 
 

_______ Yes 
 
_______ No 
 

C. Text Revisions: Article III, Section 3.11, amending to specify the time period an appointed 
Commissioner shall serve. (Underline text is added to the Charter and strikethrough text is 
removed). 

 
Article III, Section 3.11 

The following code of ethics shall apply to all officers and employees of the municipality, whether 
elected or appointed, paid or unpaid. By majority vote of the Commissioners, the Commission may 
vote to censure a member for violating this code. No officer or employee of the Town shall 
knowingly: 

   (a)   Engage in any business or transaction or have a financial or other personal interest, direct 
or indirect, which is incompatible with the proper discharge of his or her official duties or would 
tend to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of his or her 
official duties; 

   (b)   Engage in or accept private employment or render services for private interests when such 
employment or service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his or her official duties, or 
would tend to impair his or her independence of judgment or action in the performance of his or 
her official duties; 

28

45



(c) Disclose confidential information concerning the property, government, or affairs of the
governmental body by which he or she is employed, without proper legal authorization, or use 
such information to advance the financial or other private interest of himself or herself or others; 

(d) Accept any valuable unacceptable gift as defined in Sections 112.313(2) and 112.313(4),
Florida Statutes, whether in the form of service, loan, thing item, whether tangible or intangible, 
or promise, from any person, firm, or corporation which to his or her knowledge is interested 
directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever in business dealings with the governmental body 
by which he or she is employed; provided, however, that any such officer or employee who is a 
candidate for public office may accept campaign contributions and services in connection with any 
such campaign; 

(e) Represent private interests in any action or proceeding against the governmental body by
which he or she is employed; 

(f) Vote or otherwise participate in the negotiation or the making of any contract involving the
Town with any business or entity in which he or she has a financial interest; 

(g) Have any private financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract or matter pending
before or within any department of the Town, [and if so] shall disclose such private interest on the 
records of the Commission, and shall disqualify himself or herself from participating in any 
decision or vote relating thereto; 

(h) Use property owned by such governmental body for personal benefit, convenience, or profit
except in accordance with policies of the Commission; or 

(i) Violate the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees as provided for in Sections
112.311 through 112.3261, Florida Statutes, as may be amended or the Florida Election Code, as 
set forth in Florida Statutes, and implementing rules thereof, and if a Town officer or employee 
has been found to have violated the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees by the 
Florida Commission on Ethics or the Florida Election Code by the Florida Elections Commission, 
or implementing rules thereof, he or she may be censured by the Town Commission. 

D. Financial Analysis and Impact:

Based on information provided by the Budget Director, the cost of the proposed amendment is
approximately ____________________, which represents
____________________________.

29

46



 
 
 
 

SECTION III – SPANISH TRANSLATIONS OF 
BALLOT TITLES AND SUMMARIES 

 
(To be supplied following Town Commission adoption) 

30

47



SECTION IV – EXHIBITS 
A. Minutes of CRC Meetings

B. Matrix of Proposed Charter Amendments

31

48



EXHIBIT A - MINUTES 

32

49



33

50



34

51



35

52



36

53



37

54



38

55



39

56



40

57



41

58



42

59



43

60



Chairman James Simmons said to take off the first clause, add a sentence, the Town Commission 

may direct by majority vote the Town Manager or Town Staff to support inquiries and/or 

investigations. 

Vice Chairman Bruce Larson said there are two topics covered in this paragraph to which 

Chairman James Simmons disagreed, saying it is all dealing with interfering with Town Staff. 

The Board discussed the delicate balance between trying not to take a Commissioners ability to 

act independently and do their own research away, but still putting wording in place that stops 

them from abusing that power. 

Member Kathy lvers-Osthus said the Town Clerk can always refuse a request. -1:56:08 

Vice Chair Bruce Larson said it would technically be breaking the rule just by asking a request 

which he believes is too strict. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about putting together interference clauses from other 

Charters for the next meeting and could email them to the Board members in advance. 

The Board agreed to have the Town Attorney provide language to amend Section 3.03 (b). 

Chairman James Simmons said they will pick up at the Office of the Town Manager at the next 

meeting on March 10th. 

6. Adjournment

Member Kathy lvers-Osthus made a motion to adjourn; Vice Chairman Bruce Larson seconded; Motion carried 
5-0.

Meeting adjourned at 8:02 pm. 

Ja�mmons 
Chairman 

ATTEST: 

Rachel Pembrook (Apr 8, 2025 10:12 EDT) 

Rachel Pembrook 
Transcriptionist 

44

61



45

62



46

63



47

64



48

65



49

66



50

67



51

68



52

69



53

70



54

71



55

72



56

73



57

74



58

75



59

76



60

77



A. Review the revised report that will be presented to the Town Commission on Monday May 5th 

Chairman James Simmons went through the revisions made since the last meeting. Under

Introduction, where it says the following amendments were assigned a lower priority as they do

not impact Town operations, and concern about the amount of ballot proposals. Suggested

adding the words due to before concern about the amount of ballot proposals.

Member Charles Leps Jr suggested starting a new sentence after operations. To add additionally,

the committee was also concerned about the amount of ballot proposals. The Board agreed.

Chairman James Simmons suggested making a page break, so the whole last paragraph in the

introduction goes to the last page.

Chairman James Simmons said in Section 3.01, says this charter amendment will remove the

Town Commission's authority to appoint, suspend, or remove the Town Clerk. Suggests adding,

this amendment is required in order to be consistent with charter amendments adopted on

11/17/2017, which moved the Town Clerk organizationally from the Town Commission to the

Town Manager. This is just to make it clear that this change is to be consistent.

Chairman James Simmons said for 3.05, suggests a page breakdown before D, financial analysis,

because the text is on the next page. For 3.04, spoke about adding the same sentence he added

for 3.01 about the Town Clerk. The Board agreed.

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about increasing the font size for the matrix, but it might stop

it from fitting on one page. The Board said they were fine with the font size the way it is.

Town Attorney Ryan Knight suggested that before the workshop, there could be a brief meeting

to approve the minutes. Suggested one language change to the first page, where it says draft

final report, to remove the word draft.

The Board agreed to meet 5 minutes before the workshop to approve the minutes.

Member Charles Leps Jr made a motion to approve the report as revised; Member Jessica Martinez 
seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

6. Adjournment

Member Jessica Martinez made a motion to adjourn; Member Charles Leps Jr seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 6:28 pm. 

J�mmons 
Chairman 

Page 2 of 2 

ATTEST: 

Rachel Pembrook (May 31 2025 14:32 EDT) 

Rachel Pembrook 
Transcriptionist 

61

78



Page 1 of 4 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 
WEDNESDAY, APRIL 23, 2025, 7:00 P.M. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

DRAFT MINUTES 

Board Members:   Staff Members: 
Chairman James Simmons   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  
Vice Chairman Bruce Larson   Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Member Charles Leps Jr 
Member Jessica Martinez 

1. Call to Order

Chairman James Simmons called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

2. Roll Call with Determination of Quorum

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call

Board Members Present Staff Members Present 
Chairman James Simmons  Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Vice Chairman Bruce Larson - Late  Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus 
Member Charles Leps Jr  
Member Jessica Martinez  

3. Approval of minutes
A. March 24, 2025 minutes
B. March 31, 2025 minutes
C. April 14, 2025 minutes

Member Jessica Martinez made a motion to approve the three sets of minutes; Member Charles Leps Jr 
seconded; Motion carried 4-0. 

4. Public Comment

None

5. New Business

62

79



Page 2 of 4 

A. Review the report that will be presented to the Town Commission

Town Attorney Ryan Knight sent the Board the draft of the final report. Said this is their report,
this is language he put in there, but they are welcome to change it. There were some changes to
the ballot proposal, those were made because it had to be less than 15 words. Changes can be
made tonight. Said there is a separate ballot proposal for the he/she language, if it is not being
applied to the document as a whole, would the Board want it included in the individual sections?

Chairman James Simmons said they decided last week that if they are making changes to a
section anyway, update the language for he/him.

First Page: Town of Melbourne Beach 2025 Charter Review Committee Draft Final Report

Chairman James Simmons said he would like to change his name from Jim to James. Also said 
that where it reads prohibiting Commission members from interference except through the 
Town Manager, would like to add words that say unless authorized by a majority of the 
Commission. 

Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus said she would like to change Kathy to Kathryn. 

Vice Chairman Bruce Larson came in at 7:05 pm. 

Table of Contents - 6:50 

Member Charles Leps Jr said on Amendment 1, change hers to her. 

Cover Letter -7:16 

Chairman James Simmons said to change Jim to James and Kathy to Kathryn. 

Vice Chairman Bruce Larson said for the cover letter add the amendment number for the 
paragraph describing the amendment. 

Chairman James Simmons and Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus said they did not think that was 
necessary. 

Vice Chairman Bruce Laron spoke about moving on. 

Chairman James Simmons said to change the names in the signature blocks on page 1, and 
Member Charles Leps Jr pointed it out on page 2 as well. 

Chairman James Simmons said the Cover Letter does not include Sections 3.03, 3.04, 3.05. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about how the Cover Letter is an overview and does not 
need to include everything, to which the Board agreed. Section II lays out the high and low 
priority amendments. 

63

80



Page 3 of 4 

Chairman James Simmons said to change the type of meeting from a special meeting to a 
workshop. 

Introduction page - 14:55 

Member Charles Leps Jr said to change Jim to James and Kathy to Kathryn. 

Chairman James Simmons suggested adding an explanation why some items are considered a 
low priority, and Member Jessica Martinez agreed. 

Member Charles Leps Jr spoke about using language that if there are too many ballot items. 

Town Clerk Amber Brown said there would be a cost depending on how many pages it is. 

Chairman James Simmons gave some examples for explaining why the items are lower 
priority, such as the Code of Ethics (covered by State law). Asked if they could group the high-
priority items together and the low-priority items together, rather than have them in 
numerical order. 

The Board agreed to group the high-priority items together and low-priority items separately. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight asked what language the Board would like to add to the Cover 
Letter to explain why the items were listed as low-priority. 

The Board agreed to add the language – The following amendments were assigned a lower 
priority as they do not impact Town operations, and the concern about the amount of ballot 
proposals.  

Recommended Amendments Section III - 24:28 

Proposed Amendment 1 – Recognition of Both Genders  

Member Jessica Martinez asked about the financial analysis and impact section. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said for most of these, there will be no budgetary impact. 

Chairman James Simmons asked about the table of contents being updated with the first 
high-priority number and adding the amendment number to the proposed amendment page. 

Member Charles Leps Jr spoke about how right now the amendment order is very clearly laid 
out by the first one being global, and then by number, and the amendment number might 
change when it goes to the Commission anyway. Proposed keeping the order, but at the top 
of each page, add high-priority or low-priority. 

The Board agreed to keep the order the same, but add high-priority or low-priority to the top 
of each page. 

64

81



Section 2.02, Section 2.03, Section 2.04, Section 2.09, Section 2.12, Section 3.01, Section 3.03, 

Section 3.04, Section 3.05, and Section 3.11- No changes 

Matrix - 30:56 

Vice Chairman Bruce Larson spoke about adding a column for high-priority or low-priority. 

General Questions/Info - 31:45 

Member Jessica Martinez asked if there is a financial impact, when will that be addressed? 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about how prior to writing the ordinance, it would be 

presented to the Commission. 

Chairman James Simmons asked if the cost impact needs to be on the ballot. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said it would be included, but he does not believe there will be a 

financial impact. Said he would verify that with finance to be 100% sure. Suggested to the 

Board that he could make the changes, send them out, and then have one last meeting. 

Chairman James Simmons said they could each review the changes online and give feedback 

to him so he would not have to make a trip. 

Town Attorney Ryan Knight said they could pick a day he would already be in Town, and the 

Board could have a quick 20-minute meeting to discuss the revisions. Any members not 

present can email him their changes/suggestions, and he can go over those at the meeting. 

The Board tentatively scheduled a meeting for 4/30/2025 at 6:00 pm to approve the report. 

Chairman James Simmons asked about setting up a workshop with the Commission. 

Town Clerk Amber Brown said she would reach out to the Commission to see if/when they 

would be interested in setting up a workshop. 

6. Adjournment

Vice Chairman Bruce Larson made a motion to adjourn; Member Kathy lvers-Osthus seconded; Motion 
carried 5-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 7:39 pm. 

Ja�mmons 
Chairman 

Page 4 of 4 

ATTEST: 

f{,,rlwl J'>•r11hro11k 1M<1v 1 71)/') Hlli, FOTJ 

Rachel Pembrook 
Transcriptionist 

65

82



Page 1 of 2 

Town of Melbourne Beach 

CHARTER REVIEW COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, APRIL 28, 2025, 6:00 P.M. 

COMMUNITY CENTER – 509 OCEAN AVENUE 

DRAFT MINUTES 

Board Members Present:   Staff Members: 
Chairman James Simmons   Town Manager Elizabeth Mascaro  
Vice Chairman Bruce Larson   Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus   Town Attorney Ryan Knight 
Member Charles Leps Jr 
Member Jessica Martinez  

1. Call to Order

Chairman James Simmons called the meeting to order at 6:13 p.m.

2. Roll Call with Determination of Quorum

Town Clerk Amber Brown conducted roll call

Board Members Present Staff Members Present 
Chairman James Simmons Town Attorney Ryan Knight – Via Zoom 
Member Charles Leps Jr Town Clerk Amber Brown 
Member Jessica Martinez

Board Members Absent
Vice Chairman Bruce Larson
Member Kathy Ivers-Osthus

3. Approval of minutes
A. April 23, 2025 minutes

Tabled

4. Public Comment

None

5. New Business

66

83



A. Review the revised report that will be presented to the Town Commission on Monday May 5th 

Chairman James Simmons went through the revisions made since the last meeting. Under

Introduction, where it says the following amendments were assigned a lower priority as they do

not impact Town operations, and concern about the amount of ballot proposals. Suggested

adding the words due to before concern about the amount of ballot proposals.

Member Charles Leps Jr suggested starting a new sentence after operations. To add additionally,

the committee was also concerned about the amount of ballot proposals. The Board agreed.

Chairman James Simmons suggested making a page break, so the whole last paragraph in the

introduction goes to the last page.

Chairman James Simmons said in Section 3.01, says this charter amendment will remove the

Town Commission's authority to appoint, suspend, or remove the Town Clerk. Suggests adding,

this amendment is required in order to be consistent with charter amendments adopted on

11/17/2017, which moved the Town Clerk organizationally from the Town Commission to the

Town Manager. This is just to make it clear that this change is to be consistent.

Chairman James Simmons said for 3.05, suggests a page breakdown before D, financial analysis,

because the text is on the next page. For 3.04, spoke about adding the same sentence he added

for 3.01 about the Town Clerk. The Board agreed.

Town Attorney Ryan Knight spoke about increasing the font size for the matrix, but it might stop

it from fitting on one page. The Board said they were fine with the font size the way it is.

Town Attorney Ryan Knight suggested that before the workshop, there could be a brief meeting

to approve the minutes. Suggested one language change to the first page, where it says draft

final report, to remove the word draft.

The Board agreed to meet 5 minutes before the workshop to approve the minutes.

Member Charles Leps Jr made a motion to approve the report as revised; Member Jessica Martinez 
seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

6. Adjournment

Member Jessica Martinez made a motion to adjourn; Member Charles Leps Jr seconded; Motion carried 3-0. 

Meeting adjourned at 6:28 pm. 

J�mmons 
Chairman 

Page 2 of 2 

ATTEST: 

Rachel Pembrook (May 31 2025 14:32 EDT) 

Rachel Pembrook 
Transcriptionist 

67

84



EXHIBIT B - MATRIX 

68

85



Charter Section Title and Ballot Question Purpose Proposed Language
General

***Low Priortiy***

He/She/His/Her

REPLACING "HE" AND "HIS" AND 
INCLUDING "HE OR SHE" OR "HIS 

AND HER"

Amending the Charter by removing any 
references to "he" and "his" and replacing 
these terms with "he or she" or "his and 

her" throughout the Charter. The Charter 
amendment does not create any new rights, 

duties, obligcations, or prohibitions.

This Charter amendment would replace "he" to "he 
or she" and "his" to "his or her" so as to recognize 

both genders when describing a Commission 
member and his or her office and the Town 

Officials and his or her position.

Article II
Town Commission

***Low Priority***

Section 2.02. 
Composition and 
Qualifications.

AMEND RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT 
AND PROVIDING FOR FORFEITURE 
OF OFFICE FOR MALFEASANCE OR 

MISFEASANCE

Amending the Charter by increasing the 
residency requirement for Commission 
members and providing for forfeiture of 

office of a Commission members for 
mealfeasance or misfeasance. This 

amendment will increase the residency 
requirement for Commission members fro 
six (6) months to twelve (12) months prior 

to the date of qualification for office.

This Charter amendment would amend the
qualifications of the Commission to provide that
any member serving on the Commission be a
resident of the Town for at least twelve (12)
months and providing that the office of a
Commission member shall be forfeited for
malfeasance or misfeasance. Additionally, this
amendment removes "a crime involving moral
turpitude" as a basis for forfeiture of office of a
Commission member.

The Commission shall consist of five (5) members elected by the qualified voters of the Town as hereinafter provided. Members of the Town Commission shall have been residents
of the Town for at least six (6) twelve (12) months prior to the date of qualification for office, and shall have the qualifications of a Town Elector. The Commission shall consist of
five (5) Commissioners: The Mayor elected as such, and four (4) Commissioners-at-Large.

The office of Commission member shall be forfeited whenever a member is finally convicted of a felony or a crime involving moral turpitude, malfeasance, or misfeasance. When a
member files for election to or accepts any other elective public office, he or she shall submit his or her resignation. This resignation shall be effective when his or her former office
is filled or when he or she accepts an elective office, whichever comes first.

Any qualified elector of the Town who meets the foregoing qualifications may qualify for a Commission seat by presenting to the Town Clerk a petition signed by twenty-five (25)
qualified Town electors, and by paying a filing fee, during the qualifying period as established from time to time in the town code of ordinances, and said elector shall submit
concurrently therewith a sworn statement of his or her name, address, occupation, and willingness to serve if elected. Until otherwise provided by Town ordinance, the filing fee
shall be ten dollars ($10.00).

The Commission shall be the judge of the qualifications of the candidates for election to the Commission, and for such purpose shall have the powers to subpoena witnesses and
require the production of evidence, but the decision of the Commission in any such case shall be subject to review by the courts.
Each person seeking to qualify for election to office as a write-in candidate shall certify under oath to the Town Clerk during the qualifying period as established from time to time
in the town code of ordinances the following information:

Name, address, that he possessed all of the qualifications required by law for the office, the name of the office he seeks, and that he will accept the office.

Failure to qualify as a write-in candidate shall mean that any write-in votes cast for such person shall not be counted.

At the time of certifying under oath the above information, a write-in candidate shall be considered a candidate except that he shall not be entitled to have his name printed on the
ballot.

***High Priority***

Section 2.03. Term of 
Office.

PROVIDE WHEN ELECTED 
COMMISSIONERS SHALL ASSUME 

OFFICE AND MINIMUM TERM 
LIMITATIONS

Amending the Charter by providing an 
elected Commissioner shall assume office 

at the next regularly scheduled Commission 
meeting following an election and 

amending the time an elected official may 
not serve on the Commission due to term 

limitations from one (1) year to eleven (11) 
months).

This Charter amendment provides that an elected 
Commissioner shall take office at the beginning of 
the next regular Town Commission meeting 
following an election, decreases the time a 
Commissioner or Mayor is prohibited from serving 
on the Commission due to term limitations from 
one (1) year to eleven (11) months, and removes 
unnecessary language relating to the November 2, 
2004 election.

(a) Elected Commissioners shall take office at the beginning of the next official regular Town Commission meeting following the municipal election at which they were 
elected. They shall hold office for a term of three (3) years, or until their successors are elected and qualified certified by the Brevard County Supervisor of Elections, unless:

(1) The individual has been appointed or elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-Large who has been removed from office other than by means of recall, forfeited
the office of Commissioner-at-Large, resigned, or the office has become vacant due to the death of a Commissioner-at-Large. In such event, a successor Commissioner-at-Large 
shall assume office in the manner set forth in Section 2.04. in this Charter.

(2) The individual has been elected to fulfill the term of a Commissioner-at-Large who has been recalled from said office by the electorate. In such event a newly elected
Commissioner-at-Large who is replacing a Commissioner-at-Large recalled from office shall serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the time remaining in 
the term of the recalled Commissioner-at-Large's term; or

(3) The individual is elected to fill a term otherwise consistent with this Charter.

(b) Neither a commission member or the mayor may qualify for or serve more than two (2) complete consecutive terms and the portion of an unexpired term occurring by 
reason of a vacancy. Notwithstanding the foregoing, an elected city official, such as a commissioner, who has served the maximum time in office as permitted by this paragraph, 
may qualify for and be elected to serve in a different city elected office, such as mayor. Further, a commissioner or the mayor who has served the maximum amount of time 
permitted by this sub- section may again serve on the commission subject to the time and term limitations of this sub-section; provided, that the official has not served on the 
commission for at least one (1) year (three hundred sixty-five (365) days = one (1) year). eleven (11) months. Any city elected official who resigns within one (1) year (three 
hundred sixty-five (365) days = one (1) year) before the end of the second consecutive term of office shall be prohibited from qualifying as a candidate for a commission seat in the 
next regular city election. This paragraph shall be applicable to any commission member or the mayor who, subsequent to the election held on November 2, 2004, has served for 
two (2) complete consecutive terms and which terms have been served in full after November 2, 2004.

69

86



***High Priority***

Section 2.04. 
Vacancies on the 
Commission.

PROVIDE THE TIME PERIOD FOR A 
COMMISSIONER TO SERVE AS A 

RESULT OF AN APPOINTMENT DUE 
TO VACANCY

Amending the Charter by specifying the 
time period for a Commissionr to serve as a 

result of an appointment due to vacancy. 
This amendment specifies that an appointed 

Commissioner shall serve until the next 
general municipal election for which the 

qualifying period has not begun at the time 
of the vacancy.

This Charter amendment provides that an 
appointed Commission member as a result of a 
vacancy shall serve until the next general election 
for which the qualifying period has not begun at the 
time of the vacancy. 

A vacancy shall occur upon the death, resignation, removal from office (other than by recall) as authorized by law, or forfeiture of office of a Commission member. When such a 
vacancy occurs, other than that of Mayor, the remaining Commission members may select, by the affirmative vote of not less than a majority of the remaining membership, a 
person to fill the vacancy. Such an appointed person shall be a qualified elector in the Town, as specified in this Charter, and shall serve until the next general municipal election for 
which the qualifying period has not begun at the time of the vacancy, at which time a candidate will be elected to serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise been the 
time remaining in the term of the Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant.

In the event the office of Mayor is vacated, the Vice-Mayor assumes the position until the next general municipal election, at which time a candidate will be elected to serve for the 
remainder of the Mayor's unexpired term, and a person is appointed or elected to fill the office of Commissioner-at-Large held by the Vice-Mayor, all in accordance with the 
criteria and procedures herein provided. Said individual succeeding to the position of Commissioner-at-Large, formerly held by the Vice-Mayor, shall hold office only until the next 
general municipal election.

If the Commission shall fail to fill a vacancy on the Commission within thirty (30) days after it occurs, or whenever two (2) or more vacancies shall occur at the same time, the 
Mayor shall immediately call a special election to fill the vacancy or vacancies. Those elected at the special election will serve a term equal in time to what would have otherwise 
been the time remaining in the term of the Commissioner-at-Large whose office has become vacant. Among the successful candidates those receiving the largest number of votes 
shall be declared elected for the longest terms.
In no event shall the Commission consist of more than two (2) commissioners serving on an appointive basis.

***High Priority***

Section 2.09. 
Commissioner-at-
Large.

PROVIDE THAT CANDIDATES 
RECEIVING LARGEST NUMBER OF 
VOTES ELECTED TO THE LONGEST 

TERMS

Amending the Charter by providing that the 
candidates for Commissioners-at-Large that 
receive the largest number of votes shall be 
declared elected for the longest terms to be 

filled.

This Charter amendment removes language 
pertaining to the 1989 election and provides that 
the candidates receiving the largest number of votes 
shall be declared elected for the longest terms. 

A total of four (4) Candidates for Commissioners-at-Large shall qualify and run for the four (4) open seats. At  the November, 1989 election, the two candidates receiving the 
largest and second largest number of votes shall each be elected to three (3) year terms, while the two candidates receiving the third and fourth largest number of votes shall each 
be elected to two (2) year terms.

Among the successful candidates those receiving the largest number of votes shall be declared elected for the longest terms.

***Low Priority***

Section 2.12. 
Legislative Procedure.

CLARIFY THE REQUIREMENT FOR 
COMMISSION TO VOTE TO ADJOURN

Amending the Charter by providing that 
less than three (3) Commission members 

may vote to adjourn Commission meetings.

This Charter amendment would clarify the 
requirement for the Commission to vote to adjourn.

Three (3) members of the Commission shall constitute a quorum, but a smaller number may vote to adjourn from day to day. No action of the Commission, except raising a
quorum, shall be valid or binding unless adopted by the affirmative vote of at least three (3) members of the Commission. The Commission shall determine its own rules and order
of business and shall provide for the keeping of a journal of its proceedings. The journal shall be a public record and shall be open to public inspection. The Commission may
prescribe for expulsion of disorderly persons from its meetings.

Article III General 
Town Adminstration

***High Priority***

Section 3.01. Powers 
and Duties of the 
Town Commission.

REMOVING THE TOWN 
COMMISSION'S AUTHORITY TO 

APPOINT, SUSPEND, OR REMOVE 
TOWN CLERK

Amending the Charter by removing the 
Town Commission's authority to appoint, 

suspend, or remove the Town Clerk.

This Charter amendment would remove the Town 
Commission's authority to appoint, suspend, or 
remove the Town Clerk.

All powers of the Town shall be vested in an elected Commission, except as otherwise provided by this Charter or by law. The Town Commission shall be responsible to the 
citizens of Melbourne Beach for the proper functioning of all Town affairs and to that end, subject to the provisions of this Charter, shall have power and are required to:

(a)	Appoint, and when necessary for the good of the Town, suspend or remove, the Town Manager , Town Clerk or Town Attorney, or members of any board, commission or
agency, who are appointed by the Town Commission.

(b)	Approve any additions or deletions of staff positions upon the recommendation of the Town Manager. Such recommendations of the Town Manager shall be made in 
conjunction with the proposed budget for the upcoming year, or may be made at any other time if deemed necessary.

(c)	Provide policy direction to, and exercise control over, the Town Manager as may be required in his role as administrative head of the Town.

(d)	Approve an annual Town budget and any amendments to the budget, together with such other fiscal reports and programs as may be required, and periodically review the 
financial status of the Town relative to the current budget.

(e)	Provide Town representation on intragovernmental groups when such groups are composed principally of elected officials or when such representation is deemed advisable by 
the Commission.

(f) Perform such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance or resolution consistent with the concept of management of the Town expressed in this Charter.

70

87



***High Priority***

Section 3.03. Office 
of the Town Manager.

PROHIBITING TOWN COMMISSION 
MEMBERS FROM INTERFERING 

WITH OPERATIONS EXCEPT 
THROUGH TOWN MANAGER

Amending the prohibition on Town 
Commission members interfering with 

Town operations except through the Town 
Manager. This amendment also provides 
that the Town Commission shall set the 

salary and benefits of the Town Manager.

This Charter amendment requires the Town 
Commission to set the salary and benefits of the 
Town Manager and amends the prohibition on 
members of the Town Commission from interfering 
with the administration of the Town except through 
the Town Manager. Many cities operating under 
the commission-manager form of government have 
a charter provision prohibiting members of the 
town commission from interfering with the 
operations of the Town except through the Town 
Manager. 

(a) This office shall be headed by a Town Manager, who shall be appointed by the Town Commission on the basis of his or her executive and administrative qualifications. The 
Town Commission shall set the salary and benefits of the Town Manager. The Town Manager shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the Town, and shall be directly 
responsible to the Commission for all Town affairs placed in his or her charge by this Charter or by ordinance or resolution. The Town Manager when necessary shall appoint, 
suspend, demote or dismiss any Town employee under his or her jurisdiction in accordance with the law and the personnel rules, and may authorize any Department Head to 
exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that department. The Town Manager shall direct and supervise the administration of all departments of the Town except the 
Office of Town Attorney, and shall attend all Commission meetings unless excused by the Commission, and shall have the right to take part in discussions, but not vote. He or she 
shall see that all laws, Charter provisions, ordinances, resolutions, and other acts of the Commission subject to enforcement by him or her are faithfully executed. The Town 
Manager shall also prepare and submit the annual budget, budget message, and capital program to the commission, and shall keep the Commission fully advised as to the financial 
condition and future needs of the Town, and shall be responsible for adhering to the approved budget. The Town Manager shall make such recommendations to the Commission 
concerning the affairs of the Town as he or she deems advisable. The Town Manager shall endorse all instruments in writing in which the Town is interested, sign Town checks as 
authorized by the Town Commission, and execute contracts on behalf of the Town, unless the Commission shall otherwise provide. The Town Manager shall by letter designate an 
Acting Town Manager to exercise his or her powers and perform his or her duties during temporary absences or disability of the Town Manager. The Commission may revoke such 
designation at any time and appoint another eligible person to serve as Acting Town Manager.

(b) Except for the purpose of inquiries and investigations, the Town Commission or its members shall not give orders or directions to any officer or employee of the Town who is 
under the direction and supervision of the Town Manager, and shall deal with such officers and employees only through the Town Manager.

The Town Commission or its members shall not give directions to or interfere with any officer or employee of the Town who is under the direction and supervision of the Town 
Manager. The Town Commission may direct by a majority vote the Town Manager or Town staff to support inquiries and/or investigations.

***High Priority***

Section 3.04. Office 
of the Town Clerk.

REMOVING THE TOWN 
COMMISSION'S AUTHORITY TO FIX 

SALARY OF TOWN CLERK

Amending the Charter by removing the 
Town Commission's authority to fix the 

salary of the Town Clerk.

This Charter amendment would remove the Town 
Commission’s authority to fix the salary of the 
Town Clerk. Additionally, the amendment removes 
the provision that the Town Clerk is to “serve the 
Commission.” 

This office shall be headed by a Town Clerk hired by the Town Manager. to serve the Commission. The salary of the Town Clerk shall be fixed by the Commission. The Town 
Manager shall have exclusive supervisory authority over the Town Clerk as a Town employee, including the authority to manage, discipline, and terminate consistent with the 
Town’s employment policies, without consent of the Town Commission. The Clerk shall be: Clerk of the Commission and shall keep the Commission journal; custodian of 
ordinances, resolutions, and such other official records as the Commission may prescribe; attestor to contracts, bonds, and other instruments as may be prescribed by law; chief 
registration and elections officer of the Town; and responsible for other duties so prescribed by the Town Commission or Town Manager.

***Low Priority***

Section 3.05. Office 
of the Town Attorney.

PROVIDING TOWN ATTORNEY'S 
SALARY/CONTRACT FIXED AND 

APPROVED BY COMMISSION

Amending the Charter by providing the 
Town Attorney’s salary and/or contract 

shall be fixed and approved by the Town 
Commission. This amendment also 

removes the requirement that the Town 
Attorney be the prosecutor in the Town 

court.

This Charter amendment would clarify that the 
Town Commission shall fix and approve the salary 
and/or contract of the Town Attorney. It further 
removes the requirement that the Town Attorney 
be the prosecutor in the Town court.

This office shall be held by an attorney, appointed by the Commission. The salary and/or contract of the Town Attorney shall be fixed and approved by the Commission. The Town 
Attorney shall be legal advisor and attorney to the officers of the Town in matters affecting the Town or relating to their official duties; prosecute and defend in behalf of the Town 
all civil actions in which the Town is a party; prepare and endorse written instruments in which the Town is concerned; be prosecutor in the Town court; and perform other duties 
as the Commission may require or as may be prescribed by general state law, consistent with this Charter and with ordinances or resolutions of the Commission. One or more 
assistants may perform any duties of the Town Attorney. The Town Attorney and his or her assistants shall be lawyers admitted to and having authority to practice in all courts of 
the state, as well as the Federal District Court.

71

88



***Low Priority***

Section 3.11. Code of 
Ethics

AMENDING THE CHARTER TO 
DEFINE UNACCEPTABLE GIFT AND 
SPECIFYING APPLICABLE FLORIDA 

STATUTES

Amending the Charter by providing 
incorporating the definition of 

“unacceptable gift” as defined in Sections 
112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida 

Statutes, and specifying the applicable 
statutory sections for the Code of Ethics for 

Public Officers and Employees.

This Charter amendment amends the prohibition on 
officers and employees of the Town to accept gifts 
as defined in Section 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), 
Florida Statutes, and specifies the statute sections 
applicable to the Code of Ethics for Public Officers 
and Employees.

The following code of ethics shall apply to all officers and employees of the municipality, whether elected or appointed, paid or unpaid. By majority vote of the Commissioners, the 
Commission may vote to censure a member for violating this code. No officer or employee of the Town shall knowingly:

(a) Engage in any business or transaction or have a financial or other personal interest, direct or indirect, which is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official duties or
would tend to impair his independence of judgment or action in the performance of his official duties;

(b) Engage in or accept private employment or render services for private interests when such employment or service is incompatible with the proper discharge of his official 
duties, or would tend to impair his independence of judgment or action in the performance of his official duties;

(c) Disclose confidential information concerning the property, government, or affairs of the governmental body by which he is employed, without proper legal authorization, or
use such information to advance the financial or other private interest of himself or others;

(d) Accept any valuable unacceptable gift as defined in Sections 112.313(2) and 112.313(4), Florida Statutes, whether in the form of service, loan, thing item, whether tangible 
or intangible, or promise, from any person, firm, or corporation which to his knowledge is interested directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever in business dealings with the 
governmental body by which he is employed; provided, however, that any such officer or employee who is a candidate for public office may accept campaign contributions and 
services in connection with any such campaign;

(e) Represent private interests in any action or proceeding against the governmental body by which he is employed;

(f) Vote or otherwise participate in the negotiation or the making of any contract involving the Town with any business or entity in which he has a financial interest;

(g) Have any private financial interest, directly or indirectly, in any contract or matter pending before or within any department of the Town, [and if so] shall disclose such 
private interest on the records of the Commission, and shall disqualify himself from participating in any decision or vote relating thereto;

(h) Use property owned by such governmental body for personal benefit, convenience, or profit except in accordance with policies of the Commission; or

(i) Violate the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees as provided for in Sections 112.311 through 112.3261, Florida Statutes, as may be amended or the Florida
Election Code, as set forth in Florida Statutes, and implementing rules thereof, and if a Town officer or employee has been found to have violated the Code of Ethics for Public 
Officers and Employees by the Florida Commission on Ethics or the Florida Election Code by the Florida Elections Commission, or implementing rules thereof, he or she may be
censured by the Town Commission.

72

89


	1 Agenda Packet Cover Page.pdf (p.1)
	250701 STCM Agenda.pdf (p.2)
	Charter Amendment Ordinance.pdf (p.3-17)
	10 C CRC Final Report.pdf (p.18-89)
	Final Report 5-2-2025.pdf
	Final Final Report.pdf
	Binder4.pdf
	Cover Page.pdf
	Section I Cover Letter
	Section II Introduction
	Section III Amendments
	He or She
	Section 2.02
	Section 2.03
	Section 2.04
	Section 2.09
	Section 2.12
	Section 3.01
	Section 3.03
	Section 3.04
	Section 3.05
	Section 3.11
	Section III Spanish
	Section IV Exhibits
	Exhibit A Minutes

	Table of Contents.pdf

	250210 CRC Signed Minutes
	250218 CRC Signed Minutes
	250324 CRC Signed Minutes
	250331 CRC Signed Minutes
	250414 CRC Signed Minutes

	Pages from 250428 CRC Signed Minutes.pdf
	Final Report 5-2-2025


